

Study Title: A cluster randomised controlled trial of the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of a mindfulness training programme in schools compared with normal school provision: the MYRIAD trial

Ethics Ref: R45358

Date and Version No: Protocol Version 2.0 Date 27/07/2020

Chief Investigator:	Willem Kuyken								
Principal Investigators:	Prof Sarah Byford, King's College London								
	Dr Catherine Crane, University of Oxford Prof Tim Dalgleish, MRC Centre Cambridge								
	Prof Tim Dalgleish, MRC Centre Cambridge Prof Tamsin Ford, University of Cambridge								
	Prof Tamsin Ford, University of Cambridge Prof Mark Terry Greenberg, The Pennsylvania State								
	Prof Mark Terry Greenberg, The Pennsylvania State University								
	Dr Obioha Chukwunyere Ukoumunne, University of Exeter								
	Prof Russell Viner, UCL - University College London								
	Prof J Mark G Williams, University of Oxford								
Trial Manager	Elizabeth Nuthall								
Researchers	Jesus Montero-Marin Liz Lord, , Laura Taylor,Anam Raja								

Lead organisation andUniversity of Oxford. This research does not fall under thesponsorResearch Governance Framework in the UK and as such
does not formally require a sponsor. The University of Oxford

takes responsibility for the research but a sponsorship review by the Clinical Trials and Research Governance team has not been carried out. It has, however, been reviewed by MS IDREC Ref: R45358

Governance The trial is managed by a Trial Management Group (Chair EN), with oversight by a Trial Steering Committee (Chair Cathy Cresswell and Nick Axford) and Data Monitoring Committee (Chair Mike Campbell). The trial is part of a set of linked studies overseen by an international Scientific Advisory Board (Chair Uta Frith). A Public Engagement Group provides advice and input as required (Chair Geraldine Davies).

Clinical Trials Unit Peninsula Clinical Trials Unit (PenCTU), Plymouth University

Funder: Wellcome Trust, ref 107496/Z/15/Z.

The funder had no role in study design; collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of data; writing of the report; and the decision to submit the report for publication.

ISRCTN

ISRCTN86619085

Chief Investigator Signature:

Willen Kingken

Declaration of interests

WK is Director of the University of Oxford Mindfulness Centre. MW is co-author of *Mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy* and *Mindfulness, Finding Peace in a Frantic World* and receives royalties from their sales.

Table of Contents

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020

of Contents	2
viations	5
t Synopsis	7
ckground	8
The social and economic challenge of mental ill health	8
Existing programmes to reduce risk and promote mental health	8
Theoretical framework	. 10
Mindfulness training (MT)	. 10
ojectives	. 12
Primary Objectives	. 13
Secondary Objectives	. 13
ethods/Design	. 14
Study design	. 14
Setting	. 14
Participants and eligibility criteria	. 15
Recruitment	. 16
Randomisation procedure and blinding	. 17
Interventions	. 18
6.1 MT programme ⁶³	. 18
5.2 Teaching as usual in line with good practice.	. 21
Audit of teaching as usual in both trial arms	. 21
Baseline assessment and follow-ups	. 22
Sample size	. 23
Outcome measures	. 24
10.1 Primary outcomes (pupil completed):	. 24
10.2 Secondary outcomes (pupil, teacher and school based):	. 25
Economic data	. 26
	of Contents

Page 3

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

4	An	alysis plan27
4	4.1	Minimising bias
5	Tria	al governance and ethics and safeguarding
Ę	5.1	Ethics and Safeguarding 32
Ę	5.2	Public engagement
6	Ele	ctronic data storage, confidentiality, security, archiving and dissemination 34
(5.1	Data held by 3rd parties
(6.2	Current study status
(5.3	Protocol updates
7	Dis	cussion
8	Ар	pendices
Ap	pend	lix 1: Table to show the experience and measurements of a young person,
tea	achei	and schools going through the trial:
9	Re	ferences

List of Figures

/	-			
Figure 1	Participa	nt flow	CONSORI	diadram
J				

Abbreviations

BRIEF	Behaviour Rating Inventory of Executive Function
CAMM	Child-Adolescent Mindfulness Measure
CA-SUS	Child and Adolescent Service Use Schedule
CBT	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
CES-D	Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale
CHU-9D	The Child Health Utility 9D
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
DMC	Data Monitoring Committee
GAD7	Generalised Anxiety Disorder 7
GEE	Generalised Estimating Equations
ICC	Intra-cluster Correlation Coefficient
MBCT	Mindfulness-based Cognitive Therapy
MBI	Maslach Burnout Inventory
MTS	Mindfulness in Teaching Scale
MT	Mindfulness Training
MYRIAD	My Resilience in Adolescence
NICE	National Institute for Care and Health Excellence
OFSTED	Office for Standards in Education
PenCTU	Peninsula Clinical Trials Unit
PHQ9	Patient Health Questionnaire 9
PSS	Perceived Stress Scale
QALYs	Quality Adjusted Life Years
RCADS	Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale
RPIS	Resistance to Peer Influence Scale
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
SCCS	School Climate and Connectedness Survey
SDQ	Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire
SEL	Social and Emotional Learning
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

- SPIRIT
 Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials

 SQL
 Structured Query Language

 SSL
 Secure Socket Layer
- TAU Teaching As Usual
- TiDier Template for Intervention Description and Replication
- TMG Trial Management Group
- TSC Trial Steering Committee
- TSES Teacher's Self-efficacy Scale
- WEMWBS Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale

Project Synopsis

Abstract

Background

Mindfulness-based approaches for adults are effective at enhancing mental health, but few controlled trials have evaluated their effectiveness or cost-effectiveness for young people. The primary aim is to evaluate the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a mindfulness training (MT) programme, across the spectrum of mental health/well-being/functioning, as a universal schools-based intervention.

Methods/design

To address this aim, the design will be a superiority cluster randomised controlled parallel group trial in which schools offering social and emotional provision in line with good practice^{17,90,91} will be randomised to either continue this provision (control) or to include MT in this provision (intervention). The study will recruit and randomise 76 schools and 5700 school students aged 12 to 14, followed up for two years.

Discussion

The study will establish if MT is an effective and cost-effective approach to enhancing mental health, well-being and social-emotional-behavioural functioning in adolescence.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020

1 Background

1.1 The social and economic challenge of mental ill health

In the UK, the annual economic cost of mental health problems has been estimated at ± 105 billion^{1,.2}. Mental health problems commonly have their first onset in adolescence, which is a period of heightened vulnerability associated with reduced attentional, emotional and behavioural regulation in the face of growing demands ³⁻⁴. In fact, 50 % of adults with psychiatric disorders experience clinically impairing psychopathology by age 18, and 75 % by age 24⁵.

Of all mental health disorders that emerge during adolescence, depression is the one with the largest impact on health throughout the lifespan in terms of Years Lost to Disability⁶. Among adults with recurrent depression, the earlier their depression first develops, the more severe its subsequent clinical course⁷. Onset in childhood or adolescence is associated with greater impairments in social and occupational functioning and reduced quality of life, with adolescent depression associated with poor academic performance, family and social difficulties, physical ill-health, suicide attempts and completed suicide⁸⁻¹¹. Such increased severity of early onset depression is often co-morbid with other disorders; more than a third of these young people have a disruptive behavioural disorder, anxiety disorder or both¹²⁻¹³. It is, therefore, vital that effective interventions are developed to tackle these vulnerability processes and to target those interventions during this critical window of adolescence.

1.2 Existing programmes to reduce risk and promote mental health

There have been many calls to develop programmes for adolescents to reduce risk of mental ill health, promote well-being and develop life skills across the spectrum of wellbeing and functioning¹⁴⁻¹⁵. Because of their broad reach and central role in the lives of children and families, schools are seen as the primary setting where such efforts should be focused¹⁶. However, there are many challenges to implement such schools-based programmes. In particular, targeted interventions, selectively offered only to

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

adolescents deemed at risk of later mental health problems, face substantial costs associated with screening and can be stigmatising. Critically, they also miss those currently deemed at lower risk, but whose risk profile changes later.

As an alternative, recent systematic reviews and governmental reports suggest that schools-based universal approaches, offered to the whole population, have the most potential to promote the mental health of young people¹⁷⁻¹⁹. However, the current research highlights that for such universal interventions to succeed, several key pragmatic and theoretical issues need to be considered²⁰. At the pragmatic level, many programmes do not consider fully how best to support teachers to deliver the intervention competently¹⁸ or try to implement programmes without due attention to known implementation facilitators and barriers²¹.

However, even if these pragmatic concerns are resolved, more fundamental theoretical issues still remain. Many existing universal interventions, aimed at reducing the risk of depression in young people, are based on theoretical models originally developed to address established psychopathology (e.g., cognitive theory and therapy) – *that is, they are designed to be used when people are unwell.* They therefore lack relevance, both for low-risk adolescents and for those who are at high-risk, but not currently showing symptoms. To illustrate, a recent fully-powered large-scale UK cluster randomised controlled trial (RCT) based on cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) principles had good reach, but low acceptability²². The study found the intervention had no effect compared to usual school provision or attention control conditions²², consistent with other recent well-designed RCTs^{14,23-24}.

This suggests that the theoretical basis for an effective universal intervention needs to focus on those critical psychological mechanisms that are universally relevant for the whole spectrum of mental health, from risk at one end, through resilience, to flourishing at the other end. The proposed trial is grounded in such a framework and evaluates a method of mental training (*mindfulness*) to modify these core mechanisms, which can be used by all young people.

1.3 Theoretical framework

Our key theoretical premise is that mental health and well-being are compromised when there is diminished ability to effectively harness top-down executive control to pursue goals and plans when faced with salient, competing distraction from bottom-up processes²⁵⁻²⁹. The significance of this premise is that this proposed central cognitive mechanism applies not only to those at risk, but also across the well-being spectrum.

For individuals at risk of *internalising* problems such as depression and anxiety, deficits in executive control manifest as difficulty in regulating cognition, affect and behaviour in the face of distracting, intrusive, negative thoughts and feelings³⁰⁻³⁶. For those at risk of *externalising* problems (conduct and antisocial/disruptive behaviour), deficits in executive control manifest as impaired impulse regulation, a problem that is associated with long-term impairments across multiple domains of functioning³⁷⁻³⁸.

For those who are *resilient or flourishing*, executive control enables the effective deployment of attention in the face of relatively innocuous, but habitual, patterns of thought (e.g., rumination) that can distract from current plans, exacerbate everyday stresses (affecting test-taking, sports performance and sleep) and undermine wellbeing³⁹⁻⁴⁰. In sum, the hypothesis is that enhancing executive control in the face of these diverse challenges will both reduce risk for vulnerable adolescents as well as promote flourishing among those who are already resilient.

Our theoretical framework points us towards a training method that focuses on modifying key executive processes, instead of focusing on reducing pathology-specific negative patterns of thinking and behaviour. Our programme aims to examine one such method, mindfulness training (MT), which is specifically designed to address such processes²⁹ and be used when people are well ⁴¹⁻⁴².

1.4 Mindfulness training (MT)

MT involves systematic practice in focusing attention in a sustained and intentional way. It augments the ability to exercise top-down executive control in the face of

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020 motivationally compelling distractions⁴³⁻⁴⁶. It also reduces intrusive thoughts and ensuing ruminative responses⁴⁷⁻⁵⁰ and behavioural impulses⁵¹. MT has been developed as a preventive intervention for those who already have enduring mental health problems. For example, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy (MBCT) was developed for people with a depression history but who are currently well, to prevent future depressive relapse⁵². The evidence base for its effectiveness and costeffectiveness is growing⁵³⁻⁵⁵, and it is now recommended by National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2009) as a first line psychosocial treatment for secondary prevention of recurrent depression. Early studies suggest that MBCT's preventive effect was greatest in those who had experienced three or more prior episodes. However, we now know that the number of episodes predicts good response because it is a marker for those with greater vulnerability due to pre-adult onset of depression and early adversity⁵⁶. The effects of MT are not, however, confined to vulnerable groups. It has been found to have beneficial effects, via executive function changes, in non-clinical populations^{47,57}. This suggests that MT is not only acceptable to non-clinical populations, but also has huge promise for primary prevention of depression because it enables intervention in early adolescence, the point at which such vulnerability first emerges.

The research question is:

"Does MT have the potential in adolescents to shift the population away from psychopathology and towards improved mental health and well-being by addressing key processes of mental regulation and executive control that operate across the spectrum of risk/resilience?"

The acceptability and feasibility of MT in young people appears promising⁵⁸⁻⁶². However, there are many unanswered questions about its ability to prevent future depression and other mental health problems in adolescence, its mechanisms of action and what moderates its effectiveness. Also, there are no robust randomised controlled trials – grounded in theory and using an adequate follow-up period – that have evaluated the benefits of MT across the whole spectrum of risk/resilience in adolescence⁶⁰.

A prototype of a schools-based MT programme has been developed by classroom teachers to teach mindfulness skills in a UK context as an integral part of the school curriculum⁶³. This MT programme was piloted (against matched comparison schools, including some schools with higher than average deprivation scores and more children with special needs). Not only was MT acceptable to secondary school children and teachers, but compared with normal school provision of social and emotional teaching, MT also reduced children's depressive symptoms and increased their well-being. This was maintained at three-month follow-up (adjusted mean differences: depression, Centre for Epidemiologic Studies for Depression Scale, CES-D⁶⁴, -1.4, 95 % CI -2.3 to -0.05, p=0.005; well-being, Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale; WEMWBS⁶⁵, 3.0, 95 % CI 0.0 to 6.0, p=0.05). Effects on well-being and depressive symptoms were most marked at times of highest stress, and greater use of mindfulness skills was associated with stronger effects⁶⁶.

Provisional evidence from this non-randomised feasibility trial is encouraging. Moreover, interventions that are designed with implementation in mind are likely to prove more acceptable^{21,67}. When adapted appropriately, MT is acceptable in more deprived and culturally diverse settings⁶⁸, and among young people with attention and conduct disorders⁶⁹. Importantly, preliminary evidence suggests that MT in schools benefits not only young people, but also shows promise in enhancing teachers' self-efficaccy and well-being^{58,70-71}. There is a need for an adequately powered RCT - that uses validated outcomes assessed over meaningful time frames - of a theory-based and thoughtfully implemented MT programme. Moreover, as the MT is delivered as a universal school intervention, a cluster RCT is required where schools are the units of allocation.

2 Objectives

This study protocol describes a cluster randomised controlled trial (RCT) designed to evaluate the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of including an MT programme within provision of social-emotional teaching compared with social-emotional teaching as usual for young people aged 11-14 within secondary schools. This protocol has

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0 27th July 2020 been informed by learning from two feasibility studies^{66,72} and several large-scale schools-based studies ^{12,16,67,73-77}. The protocol is written in conjunction with the Standard Protocol Items: Recommendations for Interventional Trials (SPIRIT) guidance for protocols⁷⁸, the 2010 Consolidated Standards for Reporting Trials (CONSORT) statement for reporting results from RCTs⁷⁹ (including its extension to cluster RCTs⁸⁰) and will comply with the Ottawa Statement on the ethical conduct and design of cluster RCTs⁸¹.

2.1 Primary Objectives

The primary aim is to determine the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the MT programme on three co-primary self-report outcomes at 1 year follow up measured at the level of the individual young person:

- 1. Risk for depression,
- 2. Socio-emotional and behavioural functioning and,
- 3. Well-being.

2.2 Secondary Objectives

Broader secondary individual level outcomes for students will include executive functioning, drug use, , anxiety, attainment and mindfulness skills. Teachers will also rate the pupils on socio-emotional and behavioural functioning.

For teachers secondary objectives will include stress, anxiety, depression, burnout and classroom mindfulness.

Secondary cluster-level outcomes will include school ecology/climate.

3 Methods/Design

3.1 Study design

The **design** will be a superiority cluster randomised controlled parallel group trial in which inclusion of the MT programme within school social-emotional teaching provision will be compared with provision of school social-emotional teaching as usual (teaching as usual, TAU)], in 76 schools (clusters); 6840 school students (ages 12-14) will be approached to recruit 5700 (Figure 1, CONSORT diagram). To ensure baseline measures are collected prior to randomisation all Year 7 and 8 pupils (or equivalent) (approximately 25000) will be enrolled into the study to provide baseline assessments (primary measures only), with only a subset of these pupils moving on to become full trial participants the following year.

The definition of a trial participant will be those who provide data at the baseline assessment and are members of one of the classes subsequently selected for continued trial participation Those providing baseline assessments only will be defined as study participants.

A two-arm trial is employed for several reasons. First, the research question addresses the key remaining uncertainty: does MT add value over current UK good practice in relation to social-emotional teaching? Second, MT's mechanisms of action are examined through a separate programme of work. Third, cluster RCTs on this scale are most likely to be a rigorous test of effectiveness/cost-effectiveness when they are as simple as possible and when school heads, teachers and pupils perceive there to be equipoise between the two arms.

3.2 Setting

Secondary schools will be recruited that are broadly representative of UK secondary schools, which offer social and emotional teaching in line with good practice guidance and are open to having the content and quality of their provision monitored.

3.3 Participants and eligibility criteria

A sample of mainstream UK secondary schools will be recruited that is representative of such schools, both with respect to the population served (on key variables such as deprivation, operationalised as eligibility for free school meals) and the type of school (e.g., selective/non-selective, urban/rural, large/small, mixed/single gender, state maintained/independent). We will not include special schools or alternative provision settingsTo avoid contamination between the trial arms, if a school was part of an academy chain, only one school per academy would be normally recruited, and schools part of academy chains already teaching mindfulness programmes were excluded from taking part in the trial for similar reasons. Only schools that offer social and emotional teaching in line with good practice will be eligible for participation, determined using a measure designed for this study to benchmark against key dimensions (e.g., leadership and strategy, curriculum content and delivery and assessment / evaluation in social-emotional teaching; this measure will be developed in the trial set up phase). Schools must also be willing to commit to the Mindfulness and resilience in adolescence (MYRIAD) study, including the teacher training required in schools randomised to MT and teacher and pupil assessments and follow-ups. To mitigate risk to implementation, schools with an inadequate rating, or where there is no substantive head, will be excluded. Within schools, classes from Years 8 and 9 (or equivalent) will be selected for pupil recruitment. To mitigate risk of selection bias, classes will be randomly selected from amongst the pool of classes configured for the school year in question. All children in selected classes will be invited to take part in the research. Where children with special educational needs are included in mainstream classes they will be invited to participate along with their classmates (with appropriate support and a limited set of research measures where appropriate).

Within schools, participating teachers will be qualified/experienced teachers who have given their consent to participate in the research and to complete the training in the delivery of the MT programme and subsequently to deliver the MT programme, should their school be randomised to the MT arm of the trial. Should the school be randomised to the TAU arm these teachers will be assessed as "controls". They will normally be on substantive teaching contracts to increase the likelihood that they will remain teaching within the school during the research period.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0 27th July 2020

3.4 Recruitment

Recruitment of schools, teachers and pupils will occur in at least two recruitment cohorts with each new cohort starting at the beginning of a school year. In the first recruitment year the aim will be to enrol a relatively small number of schools (approximately 16), with the remainder recruited in the following year.

- (1) Seventy-six secondary schools will be recruited using a recruitment strategy devised to obtain a representative selection of UK schools. Schools must agree to randomisation, be open to either continuing to offer social and emotional teaching in line with good practice guidance or training teachers to deliver the MT programme and to delivering the MT programme as part of their ongoing social and emotional teaching provision.
- (2) Pre-written standard letters or emails will be sent to parents/caregivers of children in Years 7 and 8 (years 8 and 9 in Northern Ireland and year S1 in Scotland) giving them an opportunity to opt-out their children from the research trial, namely the baseline study measures and the potential further data collection in the following years, if their child's class moves into the full trial.
- (3) Prior to randomisation, all pupils in the current Year 7 and 8 (or equivalent) in eligible schools will be invited to assent to the trial. At this point they become a study participant with the potential to move onto the full trial the following year. After this they will be asked to complete the primary outcome measures for the study. This data will provide baseline data for those pupils in the classes who subsequently proceed into the full randomised controlled trial, and will be used to assess the representativeness of this subset of pupils relative to all pupils of their age within the school. This method of obtaining baseline data is required because class configuration may not be stable within a school from one academic year to the next. In order to be sure that all pupils within a selected class have baseline data we need to obtain this data from all pupils in the year group.

- (3) Prior to randomisation, teachers who would deliver the MT, should the school be randomised to MT, will be identified. If allocated to the control school these teachers will be "controls." Following randomisation of schools to intervention/control arms, the participating teachers in schools randomised to MT will begin their programme of training. Participating teachers in both arms will complete research outcomes during this training phase.
- (4) Once MT teacher training is complete, a random sample of at least 3 classes will be selected within each intervention and control school, using an approach to ensure class selection is not biased based on a standard algorithm.
- (5) Letters will be sent to parents/caregivers of children in the selected classes reminding them of the next step for their child. At this point this would relate to the full randomised controlled trial. The same letter/email containing the same information will sent to all parents/caregivers irrespective of intervention.
- (6) All eligible pupils in the selected classes will then be asked to provide continued informed assent to data collection at each time point
- (7) Letters will be sent to parents/caregivers of children in classes that are not selected to proceed to trial participation informing them that their child's involvement in the study has ended.

Where schools decide to participate in the trial they will agree to offer the MT programme as part of the standard school curriculum. That is to say parental opt out and child assent relates to the research (baseline and full randomised control trial assessments) and not the MT or TAU. Consent to participation in MT or TAU curricula is at school level. Schools will be free to teach the MT programme to non-trial classes as they wish, but we will not collect data from these pupils.

3.5 Randomisation procedure and blinding

Randomisation of schools to intervention and control arms will be stratified and will be carried out by an independent statistician. The following stratification variables will be Page 17
Page 17
Page 17

considered, with final decisions taken once schools have been recruited: School size (large/small), type of school (selective/non-selective, independent/non-independent, mixed/single gender, school quality measure e.g. OFSTED), geographic location (urban/rural and region) and level of deprivation (below or above median of children eligible for free school meals)

All participating children will be recruited from the schools in the autumn term of the school recruitment years (September through December) ⁸².

Attempts will be made for researchers collecting follow-up data to be blind to allocation, but teachers and pupils involved in the intervention cannot be blind.

3.6 Interventions

The MT programme and TAU will be delivered at school (cluster) level. Both will be mapped as far as possible using a template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide for reporting complex interventions; namely articulating the interventions' name, theory, what (materials), how (procedures), who provides it, modes of delivery, place of delivery, any tailoring and fidelity⁸³. UK schools deliver social-emotional teaching in different ways and will likewise choose to integrate MT within their existing provision in different ways. Thus the trial cannot be categorized as either purely additive (MT+ existing social-emotional teaching provision) or substitutive (MT replacing existing social-emotional teaching provision) in its design. Rather different schools will be at different points on this hypothetical continuum and we will report provision of social emotional teaching in schools across both arms of the trial.

3.6.1 MT programme⁶³.

The MT goals are to enable adolescents to learn mindfulness skills that enhance mental regulation and executive control across the spectrum of risk/resilience. The MT programme is drawn primarily from MBCT⁵². A unique feature of the MT programme is its focus on the full spectrum of functioning from mental health problems to flourishing, enabling all young people to use mindfulness skills to manage emotions, academic study, sport, sleep and relationships. It was developed over more than 5 years by three classroom teachers (Richard Burnett, Chris Cullen and Chris O'Neill)

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

who are also experienced mindfulness practitioners. This has included ensuring the programme can be taught in mainstream schools, how best to engage hard to reach children and how to manage challenging classroom behaviour. It has been developed and adapted to ensure it is acceptable to diverse school contexts and student populations. Latterly the programme has been enhanced to support children to practice mindfulness during and beyond the course (including digital resources such as animations).

The MT programme comprises several elements, delivered through the school curriculum, over several years, supported by teacher training. The bulk of the MT programme is taught to students in a set of 10 scripted lessons (taught in year 8 and 9 or equivalent). The MT programme will normally be delivered in the spring terms (January through April), with support to continue use of mindfulness skills into the summer term. In the following school years, there are follow-on lessons intended to continue and support further learning and ongoing mindfulness practice (e.g., lunchtime clubs or drop in sessions). This follow-on training in subsequent school years aims to sustain, deepen and begin to apply students' learning and embed mindfulness in the school ecology/climate.

The MT programme includes a combination of psycho-education and practical skills involved in training the mind, learned in an experiential way, through short mindfulness practices which focus on the breath, body and immediate experience. There is also classroom discussion of the application of new skills in everyday life. Its design aligns with principles identified as important for effectiveness in several reviews of schools-based programmes that promote mental health and well-being and teach social and emotional competence¹⁹. These principles include: explicitly teaching skills and attitudes; tailoring components and approaches to the needs of young people; using a range of age-appropriate, interactive, experiential and lively teaching methods; providing age appropriate resources, for example in this context resources that bring mindfulness to life (including a course booklet and a set of mindfulness exercises provided online and/or as CD / mp3 audio files); intensive, focused teacher education to build teachers' self-efficacy and well-being; and programme implementation which pays close attention to clarity and fidelity, in this case supported by a manual and indicative script^{19,21,58}. Building on data that greater practice is associated with better

outcomes⁸⁴⁻⁸⁵, the MT programme includes strategies to support teachers in keeping mindfulness integral to the culture of their year group/the school as a whole. Examples of good practice in this area could include teacher catch-up days/support events, suggested schedules for progressive, regular mindfulness input throughout year groups, suggested smart phone apps and using parts of the MT programme in core curriculum subjects.

Whilst all participating schools randomised to MT will have agreed to deliver the MT programme to a minimum of three classes within years 8 and 9,(or equivalent) they will be encouraged to consider how they might introduce mindfulness into the curriculum more broadly, for the potential benefit of other school pupils and the wider school climate.

Because implementation affects both reach and outcomes⁸⁶, all schools will be supported with implementation guidance to increase the likelihood that MT is introduced into the schools in ways that maintain its integrity and are sustainable. For example, implementation of MT will require engagement with school leadership teams, teachers and pupils, as identified, for example, in research in disadvantaged urban schools in the US ^{77,87}.

3.6.1.1 Training teachers to deliver the MT programme.

The training programme to deliver the MT programme involves teachers first participating in an 8-week MBCT programme, adapted for the general (non-clinical) population, to support the development of their resilience and mindfulness skills (eight 2 hour sessions per week, with an all-day mindfulness session supported by a digital app to facilitate mindfulness practice during and after the 8 week course). Selected teachers will then attend a 4-day training workshop to learn how to deliver the MT in schools, with support where needed when they move onto teach themselves. Within participating schools, as large a pool of teachers as possible, will be trained to build in redundancy should teachers either not achieve required levels of competency or leave the school. Training a larger group of teachers will also support greater implementation of the MT programme within the school, outside trial classes, as well as offering peer support throughout the project.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0 27th July 2020

3.6.1.2 Fidelity of the MT programme

To test the effectiveness of the MT programme we need to ensure it is delivered with fidelity. The teacher training and MT programme are highly structured and standardised to maximise fidelity. Through teacher selection and teacher training we will endeavour, as far as possible, to ensure teachers reach an adequate standard before they teach trial classes. During the trial classes, competency/adherence will be monitored. Independent raters will rate a randomly selected subset of videotapes of MT programme classes for fidelity (adherence and competence) using a standardised measure developed by the applicant team with adaptations made for MT in schools^{88,89}.

3.6.2 Teaching as usual in line with good practice.

The trial aim is to establish if MT when integrated into current good practice in social and emotional teaching in secondary schools adds value over and above current good practice in social and emotional teaching in secondary schools. Therefore, all participating schools will be selected only if they are currently offering social and emotional teaching in line with good practice^{17,90,91}. A Department of Education Report suggests 70 % of secondary schools offer social-emotional teaching, usually through a variety of methods (e.g., citizenship or Personal, Social and Health education lessons, drop down days, within other subjects, and in tutor/form time) and taught through ages 11-16 (Key Stages 3 and 4)¹⁷. TAU schools will agree not to provide the MT programme (or other curricula that include mindfulness training) until study completion. This approach ensures that MT's effectiveness is tested against current good practice.

3.7 Audit of teaching as usual in both trial arms

Following randomisation, the current provision of social emotional teaching will be mapped using a bespoke audit tool developed for the MYRIAD trial¹⁷. The mapping

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020 will enable us to fully describe current practice with respect to social-emotional teaching in all randomised schools, at the school-level and for study pupils within each school, and compare the two trial arms. It will further provide information on how the MT curriculum is integrated into wider social-emotional teaching provision in intervention schools.

3.8 Baseline assessment and follow-ups

Study outcomes will be measured at school consent/baseline (prior to randomisation¹), pre-intervention, post-intervention (within 30 days of the end of the MT programme or equivalent time in the TAU arm), 1-year follow-up (1 year after pre-intervention measures and again at 2-year follow-up (2 years after pre-intervention measures). (See Figure 1). The experience of a young person, teacher and school going through the trial is shown in Appendix 1.



¹ For pragmatic reasons at this time-point only the primary outcome measures for the pupils will be measured.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Figure 1 Participant flow CONSORT diagram.

3.9 Sample size

The study requires 76 schools, with the intention that 5700 proceed to full trial participation, and that 4560 ultimately complete the trial at 2-year follow-up. Extra schools will be recruited to allow for dropout at the cluster level, predicting around 4 schools per study arm to drop put. These pupils will be a subset of the approximately 25000 pupils enrolled into the study that provided baseline assessments (primary measures only). At least three classes from each school will be included in the study. Drawing on the two feasibility studies^{66,72}, a conservative assumption is made that in each class of 30, 25 children will have assented to participate and 20 of these will be followed-up over two years. However because opt-out assent will have been obtained prior to class selection where levels of assent are lower than expected we will have the flexibility to include more classes within a school, in order to ensure that the required number of participants proceed to full trial participation. However, as this sampling approach yielded a lower number of pupils in some schools in Cohort 1, it was revised from three to four classes or more per school where possible in the second and larger Cohort 2, with the aim to have approximately 100 pupils per school. The 38 schools (clusters) and 2280 children in each trial arm at follow-up (76 schools and 4560 children altogether) is a large enough sample to detect a difference of 0.2 standard deviation units (effect size) on our continuous co-primary outcomes. The sample size has been inflated to allow for multiple testing, setting the 2-tailed significance level (alpha) for comparing each individual outcome between the trial arms to 0.0167 to preserve the overall family-wide Type I error rate at 0.05. The study has 90 % power to detect the specified effect size for each co-primary outcome as statistically significant. The sample size also allows for: (i) clustering of outcomes within schools, assuming an intra-cluster (intra-school) correlation coefficient (ICC) of 0.04; and (ii) 20 % drop-out, with 60 of the 75 children consenting to participate in the trial providing full follow-up data within each school. Relevant literature suggests our assumed value of the ICC is conservative. The largest ICC in one of our feasibility

27th July 2020

studies⁶⁶ was 0.037. The ICC for the same measure of depression as used here (CES-D) has been estimated to be 0.033 from a previous study in Quebec based on around 5000 children from across 71 schools drawn from relatively disadvantaged communities⁹² and to be 0.009, 0.015 and 0.017 for different Year levels (Year 8, Year 9 and Year 10 respectively) based on around 2500 children from across 25 statefunded schools in South Australia spanning the full socioeconomic spectrum⁹³.

3.10 Outcome measures

Multi-method and multi-informant measures will be used that have established sensitivity to change, reliability and validity, balanced with consideration to minimising burden on both participants and researchers and maximising data quality. All measures will be completed either on paper or via an online system. The pupils will complete the measures in a classroom setting where possible.

3.10.1 Primary outcomes (pupil completed):

Our aim is to determine the effectiveness of the MT programme based on three **coprimary** outcomes at 1-year follow-up: **risk for depression** (Centre for Epidemiologic Studies for Depression Scale; CES-D; ⁶⁴); **social/emotional/behavioural functioning** (Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, SDQ; ⁹⁴); and **well-being** (Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale; WEMWBS; ⁶⁵). There was consideration of selecting just one primary outcome but the research team, experts in the field who were consulted and peer review concluded that all three co-primary outcomes are critically important. The research team also considered combining the three co-primaries into a composite outcome. However, as the research question includes the specific effect of the intervention on each of the three aspects, not just the overall effect, it was decided to retain the primary outcomes in their natural form. Composite measures can obscure variation that would convey interesting and important information in our proposed work⁹⁵.

There are a number of reasons for the choice of primary outcomes. First, adult depression (like mental health generally) is predicted by a range of difficulties in

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

adolescence, including not only low-grade depressive symptomatology, but also social/emotional/behavioural functioning^{13,96-98}. Second, MT is a complex intervention that is specifically designed for young people along the full spectrum of risk/resilience and mental health. The outcome measures, therefore, needed to assess both problems (e.g., depressive symptoms) and also positive mental health. In such instances, and in line with the Medical Research Council (MRC) Complex Interventions Framework⁹⁹ and evolving guidance in the literature¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰¹, a number of critical outcomes were chosen as co-primary outcomes that: (a) are targeted by MT; (b) cover the full spectrum of mental health risk/resilience; and (c) predict later psychopathology / mental health.

3.10.2 Secondary outcomes (pupil, teacher and school based):

A range of individual level secondary outcome measures have been chosen based on their value to education policy makers, school heads and pupils themselves. Secondary outcomes are: students' executive processing (Behaviour Rating Inventory of Executive Function, self and teacher rated versions; BRIEF¹⁰²); drug and alcohol use; anxiety (anxiety subscales from the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale; RCADS¹⁰⁴); Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, SDQ), teacher-rated version; SDQ ⁹⁴; student level attainment and attendance(National Pupil Database); ¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁶; self-harm and suicidal ideation and mindfulness skills (Child-Adolescent Mindfulness Measure, CAMM¹⁰⁷). To support resource allocation decision making and guideline development by bodies such as NICE ¹⁰⁸; the CHU-9D measure of health-related quality of life^{134,135} suitable for the calculation of Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs) and application to economic evaluation, will also be included, alongside the Child and Adolescent Service Use Schedule (CA-SUS). Given the high rates of teacher stress and burnout, the importance of school ecology/climate, and the potential of MT to address these variables, the following will also be secondary outcomes: teachers' wellbeing (Maslach Burnout Inventory, MBI Educator version¹¹⁰); self-efficacy (Teacher's Self-efficacy Scale, TSES¹¹¹), classroom mindfulness (Mindfulness in Teaching Scale ¹¹²), stress (Perceived Stress Scale, PSS¹¹³), depression (Patient Health Questionnaire, PHQ9¹¹⁴) and anxiety (Generalised Anxiety Disorder, GAD7¹¹⁵). Teacher level variables will be measured for those teachers within schools identified to teach the intervention pre-randomisation. School (cluster) level outcomes will

include school ecology/climate ([sub-scales most relevant to the intervention from the School Climate and Connectedness Survey (SCCS)¹³³] and school level attainment, for example GSCE results (National Pupil Database)

Study outcomes will be measured at five time points: baseline (school and teacher as well as primary measures for all pupils from Years 7 and 8 or equivalent); preintervention; three-months post-intervention (or equivalent); one-year (1 year after preintervention) follow-up; and again at two-year follow-up (2 years after pre-intervention). It is important that outcomes are measured over a short enough period to enhance data completeness as well as over a long enough period to examine emergent risk/resilience over time

3.11 Economic data

The economic evaluation will take a health and social care perspective, as preferred by NICE ¹⁰⁸, but will additionally include education-based services, since evidence suggests that health and education make up the majority of the costs of caring for young people with depression¹¹⁶.

Service use will be recorded using a brief version of CA-SUS, successfully applied in previous adolescent depression populations¹¹⁶. A brief version focusing on key services (high cost and high volume of use) suitable for self-completion by parents of primary school children is currently being applied in a similar school-based cluster RCT⁷³. This measure will be adapted for application to an older population and for self-completion by the young people. Economic data will be collected at baseline, pre and post intervention as well as one and two-year follow-up. The pre-intervention measure will collect information covering the previous 3 months; at follow-up the service use will be collected in the last 3 months at which economic data were collected will be recorded.

Resource inputs into MT training and delivery will be recorded as part of the trial and will be costed using a micro-costing approach. This will involve calculation of the cost of all individual elements (teaching and training staff time, any supply teaching expenses, training and intervention materials, etc.), as well as relevant overheads

(administration, managerial, capital etc.) and adjustment for indirect time (non-face-toface working time which cannot easily be allocated to specific individuals). All other services used will be costed by applying nationally applicable unit costs, including National Health Service Reference costs for secondary care services, as well as published costs for primary care, social care and education services¹¹⁷.

Outcomes for the economic evaluation will be measured using the CHU-9D^{134, 135} measure of health-related quality of life, shown to be valid and responsive to change in adolescent populations¹¹⁸.

4 Analysis plan

Analyses will be conducted / supervised by the co-investigator trial statistician (Obioha Ukoumunne) and trial health economist (Sarah Byford) following CONSORT standards, overseen by the Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) and documented in a full pre-specified Statistical Analysis Plan. Analyses will be conducted on an intention-to-treat basis, with participants analysed according to the trial arm they were randomised to, using multiple imputation to "fill in" missing data. Comparisons will also be made between the trial arms, based on those with complete data in a sensitivity analysis. All between-arm comparisons will be run first as crude analyses (unadjusted) and then adjusted for baseline prognostic factors, chosen *a-priori*, but certainly including the factors used to stratify the randomisation. The adjusted analysis will be considered to be the main analysis.

The approach to evaluating the intervention emphasises estimation of the intervention effect (confidence intervals), rather than strictly hypothesis testing. In recognition of the multiple testing, we will use an adjusted critical level for significance testing of 0.0167 for each of the three primary outcomes to maintain the overall Type I error rate at 0.05. The confidence intervals will not be adjusted for multiple comparisons. No adjustments will be made to the critical levels for testing the secondary outcomes, as these are more exploratory in nature. The study sets out to establish the superior effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of MT compared with TAU. As set out above, all the co-primary outcomes are deemed important in their own right, such that each will be reported independently. Interpretation of the effect sizes will be across the primary

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

and secondary child, teacher and whole school outcomes, examining the overall profile of effect sizes as well as specific effect sizes for specific outcomes.

The main reported clinical analysis will use the intention-to-treat principle. The definition of a trial participant will be those who provide data at the baseline assessment and are members of one of the classes subsequently selected for continued trial participation. Those providing baseline assessments only will be defined as study participants. In ancillary exploratory analyses we will also examine whether the effectiveness of the intervention is greater for those that adhere to the curriculum (i.e., engage with intervention, and in the case of the MT use the mindfulness practices). Because adherence is likely to be associated with factors that impact on the outcomes, we will account for this confounding using instrumental variable methods¹²⁰.

All analyses will account for clustering within schools, as this is a cluster-randomised design. Continuous outcomes will be compared using random effects ("multilevel") linear regression and binary outcomes will be compared using marginal logistic regression models using Generalised Estimating Equations (GEEs) with robust estimates of standard error, specifying an exchangeable correlation structure within clusters. Continuous outcomes will be summarised for each trial arm using means and standard deviations and binary outcomes will be summarised for each trial arm using numbers and percentages.

We will use tests of interaction to explore potential moderators of outcome, including, but not exclusive to: the children's age/year group; the stratification variables and baseline risk for depression; well-being; and social/emotional/behavioural functioning. The latter is particularly important, as it is key to engagement with MT. These analyses are exploratory and hypothesis generating in nature¹²¹. We acknowledge the issue of multiple testing and the need to cautiously interpret significant findings that will require replication in subsequent studies to have credence. We also acknowledge the low statistical power of tests of interaction in comparison to the power for detecting main effects¹²².

Whilst mechanisms of action and potential mediators are examined in detail in a separate programme of work, we will explore potential mechanism variables pre- and

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020 post-MT in both trial arms and key outcomes at one- and two-year follow-up. We will ask if the change in mechanisms is specific to MT, changes as a function of use of mindfulness skills, precedes changes in the outcomes, and explains changes in key outcomes at follow-up, over and above changes in those outcomes from baseline-topost-treatment¹²³ and through moderated mediation explore what works for whom. Methods for the analysis of mediation using clustered data are in the infancy of their development¹²⁴. We will keep abreast of on-going methodological research in this area and these analyses will be exploratory and hypothesis generating in nature.

Cost-effectiveness will be assessed in terms of quality-adjusted life years using the CHU-9D. Secondary analyses will explore cost-effectiveness in terms of the three coprimary outcomes, to assess the sensitivity of analyses to the alternative outcomes of interest. We will employ standard methods of analysis, including multiple imputation for missing data, adjustment for baseline prognostic factors, in line with the clinical analyses, and standard parametric tests for differences in costs, with the robustness of the parametric tests confirmed using bias-corrected. nonparametric bootstrapping¹²⁵. Cost-effectiveness will be assessed using the net benefit approach, with uncertainty explored through the presentation of cost-effectiveness acceptability curves¹²⁶. A within-trial analysis will be undertaken at 1-year follow-up.

The lifestyle choices and behaviour of young people on the threshold of adulthood can lead to short- and long-term adverse outcomes that are expensive for society and damaging to them¹²⁷,¹²⁸. To this end, longer-term outcomes and costs will be explored using decision analytic modelling¹²⁹. The model will be populated using data from our ongoing programme of work, including trial data and research on teacher training models, as well as evidence from the literature and relevant longitudinal cohort databases. The most suitable modelling framework in which to carry out the analysis will be dependent upon the results of the RCT, and thus will be finalised at a later point. Markov modelling is likely to be the most appropriate for extrapolation over the longer-term since it is able to deal with relatively complex care pathways. The cost-effectiveness model will be analysed using incremental analysis and probabilistic sensitivity analysis. The time period over which the model will be run will be determined after review of the literature, since data availability is the key limiting factor. These analyses are exploratory and hypothesis generating in nature¹²¹.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0 27th July 2020

4.1 Minimising bias

To maximise *generalisability*, we will actively recruit schools that are representative of the UK population, with particular, but not exclusive, attention to key variables such as deprivation, operationalised as eligibility for free school meals and region and the type of school (e.g., selective/non-selective, urban/rural, large/small, mixed/single gender, state maintained/independent). As recruitment progresses we will, as far as possible, monitor recruited schools and teaching staff within these schools in terms of their match to these variable, actively seeking schools with variables that will improve the representativeness of the sample. In the event that we have more interested schools than we are able to recruit, we will make decisions on suitability based partly on the intention of achieving a representative sample of schools

To minimise **contamination across clusters** we will randomise at the level of school, and secure schools' agreement to adhere to the regime of the trial arm to which they are allocated. **Attrition bias** will be minimised by building on robust trial procedures developed in our feasibility trials^{66,130}. Retention of pupils is predicted to be > 80 % at follow-up. We have demonstrated that we can achieve close to 97 % data from pupils and 100 % retention of schools/teachers completion in our feasibility studies, albeit it with shorter follow-ups^{66,130}. As randomisation is at the level of school, if teachers leave, provision can be made within schools for cover by allocating another teacher able to offer the interventions. We will exclude schools from the study with an inadequate school quality rating or without a substantive head because of the risk to implementation. Trial newsletters and social networking will be used as a way of keeping in touch with schools and participants between follow-up points.

Robust randomisation procedures conducted by an independent statistician and prepublication of the trial protocol will minimise *subversion bias*.

Blinding. Attempts will be made for researchers collecting follow-up primary and secondary outcome data that may be prone to researcher-expectancy effects to remain blind. The Trial Manager and Administrators will not be blind, to enable good trial governance and communication with schools. Researchers engaged with blind data collection will be asked to guess the trial arm at each follow-up point.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Page 30

To *maximise data completeness*, data will be collected either through an online portal using tablets/laptops or through paper and pencil measures, whichever is preferred by the school/teacher students. Pupils who are absent from school will normally be contacted through their school. Teachers will be remunerated for completion of student and self-report measures. Time windows for the follow-up assessments will be large enough to maximise data completeness. *Data management and integrity* will be maximised by using protocols established in our previous trials including using online data entry and, where appropriate, through double entry. Finally, *analytical biases* will be minimised by pre-publishing the Study Protocol prior to data collection and the Statistical Analysis Plan prior to analysis.

Measurement of preference: In line with guidance for the design of randomised controlled trials¹³¹, we will write our study materials to ensure they provide clear information about the two trial arms. We will assess head teachers preferences at baseline. We will ask pupils about the credibility and usefulness of the MT and social and emotional learning (SEL) curricula.

5 Trial governance and ethics and safeguarding

Ethical and Regulatory considerations:

Declaration of Helsinki

The Investigator will ensure that this study is conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki

(http://www.wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/)

Guidelines for Good Clinical Practice

The Investigators will ensure that this study is conducted in accordance with relevant regulations and with Good Clinical Practice. Researchers who will be obtaining informed consent will complete relevant components of Good Clinical Practice training.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol Version 2.0 27th July 2020 All members of the research team will undergo clearance through the disclosure and barring service.

Trial Governance:

The management structure will ensure that the scientific aims are delivered and provide robust governance and oversight. Oxford University will sponsor and host the study and we will seek ethics approval from the University of Oxford Central Research Ethics Committee.

A Trial Management Group (TMG) comprising the co-investigators and Trial Manager will provide day-to-day management of the project. Quarterly TMG meetings will review progress against study milestones, plan work, discuss methods, keep a risk register and anticipate/resolve any problems. The first meeting will be face-to-face and then via video/teleconferencing throughout the project, with face-to-face meetings at least once a year. They will seek input from collaborators and others, as needed.

A Trial Steering Committee (TSC) and Data Monitoring Committee (DMC) will be established to provide oversight of the trial. They will be independent of the study team and chaired and constituted by people with the requisite specialist expertise and experience. The PenCTU will support the trial in terms of database development, randomisation, methodology, and statistics.

5.1 Ethics and Safeguarding

Ethics procedures build on our feasibility trials and other schools-based trials⁷³. We will ensure consent at the school level from head teachers. We will then seek parental/caregiver opt-out and child assent. Cluster RCTs present particular ethical issues and we therefore follow the Ottawa group 15 consensus recommendations for cluster RCTs, with school headteachers identified as the "gatekeepers"⁸¹. Child welfare and safeguarding procedures have been developed with input through our stakeholders (headteachers, teachers and young people).

The recruitment and research governance procedures developed in the STARS (Supporting Teachers And childRen in Schools) trial⁷³ and our feasibility study will be used⁶⁶. Our feasibility study did not identify any risks to young people arising from the research procedures or MT itself. However, a protocol or Risk Management has been

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

developed to provide a consistent approach to identification and reporting of risk. This protocol will be discussed and agreed with the headteachers/safeguarding leads at each participating school and builds on the protocol developed in our earlier trials. The protocol will ensure that, where young people are identified as at risk of abuse, appropriate safeguards are put in place in a timely way. Young people who disclose concerns directly to the research team in person, or via another means of direct communication rather than through case report forms, will be followed up to ensure that they receive appropriate support. All young people will be provided with bespoke information on local and national sources of support, the content of which will be agreed with participating schools. Likewise participating teachers who are identified as at risk of harm will be followed up in accordance with the protocol for Risk Management. Data on Serious Adverse Events (death, overnight hospitalisation, prolongation of existing hospitalisation, persistent or significant disability/incapacity, life threatening situations and attendance at A+E) will be collected both as they arise and as part of routine data collection at each assessment point and will be reported to the DMEC within seven days of the research team becoming aware of them. Adverse events will be logged and reported via the DMEC and TSC, and the DMEC will review aggregate data on child mental health and self-harm outcomes to ensure there is no excess of such outcomes in the active arm. As we are collecting data in two cohorts, the end of the first cohort provides an opportunity for the DMEC and TSC to review this data and the robustness of these procedures once the first wave of intervention has been completed.

5.2 Public engagement

Public engagement has been established for three aims: integrate stakeholders' perspectives, maximise impact of dissemination, and as an end in itself. In relation to stakeholder engagement, a process of engaging secondary school heads, teachers and student councils was used to inform the protocol. Our consultation resulted in: including more visits and on-going communication with schools; ensuring appropriate remuneration for teachers completing assessments of their students; planning best scheduling of assessments/MT intervention; and creating robust procedures for ensuring participant safety. Our public engagement will be supported by a Public Page 33

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Engagement Group chaired by Geraldine Davies, Head Teacher, UCL Academy; that will meet bi-annually (at least initially), feeding into the Trial Management Group and the comprising key stakeholders who can to some degree represent their stakeholder group, including young people, teachers, parents and school mindfulness teachers.

6 Electronic data storage, confidentiality, security, archiving and dissemination

Electronic study records will be stored in a Structured Query Language (SQL) server database, stored on a restricted access and secure server, maintained by Plymouth University. Data will be entered into the database via a bespoke web-based data entry system encrypted using Secure Socket Layer (SSL). Data entered onto the database will be backed up according to PenCTU Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs). Data will be collected and stored in accordance with the Data Protection Act, 1998.

Double-entered data will be compared for discrepancies using a stored procedure. The results will be available, via a web-based report, to the study team who may choose to verify discrepant data using the original paper data sheets.

Access to the database will be permission based and user accounts will be requested by the trial manager and managed by the PenCTU data manager and PenCTU programmer.

Following completion of data analysis and submission of the end of study report, the Sponsor will be responsible for archiving the study data and essential documentation in a secure location for a period. No trial-related records should be destroyed unless or until the Sponsor gives authorisation to do so. On completion of the trial the University of Oxford will continue to safeguard the master file and enable access to the data in line with its policies. Dissemination is guided by the MYRIAD Dissemination Protocol, which provides guidelines on authorship, planned outputs and mechanisms for additional papers and access to the trial dataset. School summary data will be offered to the schools at the end of the trial.

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0 27th July 2020

6.1 Data held by 3rd parties

Where rules, in the license agreements of questionnaire scales, require the use of external websites to perform data collection the storage and security of these data becomes the responsibility of the 3rd party. Where possible an anonymised identifier will be stored in the PenCTU database and this will be used by the 3rd party websites.

6.2 Current study status

6.3 Recruitment of schools was completed in Autumn 2017. The first cohort of schools (12) completed their 2 year follow-up visits in January 2020. The second cohort of schools (72) completed the 1-year follow-up of the project during the Autumn term of 2019 with some schools finishing in January 2020. The final 2-year follow-up is planned to take place in Autumn 2020, however, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, at the time of writing the timing of this phase of data collection remain uncertain and may be moved to a later time point.Protocol updates

Protocol update	Person making update	Date and protocol
		version number
Minor changes to clarify	E. Nuthall	1.1 18/05/2016
protocol		
Change of primary	E. Nuthall	2.0 27/07/2020
endpoint from 2 year follow		
up to 1 year follow up.		
Update to questionnaires		
used and table in appendix		
1. Items changes for clarity		

7 Discussion

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

This cluster RCT aims to provide a rigorous evaluation of the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of a MT programme, compared with good practice teaching of socialemotional curricula, for young people aged 11-14 within secondary schools. It will answer a question with significant public health implications; namely "can a universal school-based intervention, in this case MT, shift the population away from mental ill health and towards improved mental health and well-being?"

If the trial suggests MT is cost-effective, this could enable schools to offer a relatively low cost, scalable intervention to improve young people's short and longer-term social, emotional and mental health outcomes. This would have implications in terms of preventing mental health problems before they can take root and become a lifelong recurring problem. Moreover, there are prospective studies suggesting that the executive control skills MT seeks to develop are associated with a range of long-term health, social, and economic outcomes³⁷. This study will examine whether integrating MT into social-emotional teaching as usual, when compared with continuing socialemotional teaching aloneso positively affects these short-term 1-year outcomes. To assess longer-term outcomes we plan to establish a cohort, to follow participants up into adulthood, linked to the National Pupil Database. There are also significant potential benefits for schools in terms of teacher mental health, well-being and functioning and school ecology/culture. Finally, alongside our other programmatic work, the trial will contribute to our understanding of for whom and when MT is best delivered, its mechanism of action and the most scalable approach to training teachers to deliver the MT programme.



8 Appendices

Appendix 1: Table to show the experience and measurements of a young person, teacher and schools going through the trial:

		STUDY PERIOD								
	Enrolment		Allocation			Post – A	llocation			
TIMEPOINT	-T1	T0	Allocation	Training	T1	Intervention	T2	Т3	Τ4	
Months relative to pre- intervention (T1) assessment	-20 to -15	-15 to -10	-12	-6	0	1-5	4-10	12 (+/-2)	24 (+/-9)	
ENROLMENT										
School Eligibility Screen	√									
Headteacher Consent	√									
New Teacher Consent	•			✓						

Parental opt-out consent	✓			\checkmark				
Pupil Assent		~		√				
Randomisation			✓					
INTERVENTIONS								
Mindfulness Training (MT)					✓			
those allocated to MT arm								
MT Booster Sessions							✓	√
those allocated to MT arm								
Teaching as Usual (TAU)					✓	✓	✓	✓
all schools								
PUPIL SELF-REPORT	I							
Sociodemographic Information		✓						
CES-D		1		✓		✓	✓	✓
SDQ (youth version)		✓		√		✓	√	✓
WEMWBS		✓		\checkmark		✓	✓	✓
PDS				√		✓	✓	✓
САММ				\checkmark		✓	✓	✓
RCADS				✓		✓	✓	✓
Mindfulness Practice*						✓	✓	√
those allocated to MT arm								

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Version 2.0

27th July 2020

Drug and Alcohol Use*				\checkmark	✓	✓	~
CHU-9D				✓	~	✓	✓
Self-Harm / Suicidal Ideation*				\checkmark	~	✓	✓
Adapted CA-SUS *				√	✓	✓	✓
Assessment of Curriculum,				\checkmark	✓	✓	✓
PSHE							
Assessment of Mindfulness				√	✓		
Curriculum *							
Questions designed by pupils as						~	✓
part of the 'Co-Researcher							
Challenge' exercise							
(note will be either T3 or T4 depending on							
which cohort the school is in)							
PUPIL ASSESSMENT OF SC	HOOL						
SCCS				\checkmark	~	✓	✓
TEACHER ASSESSMENT OF	FPUPILS						
Consent to provide pupil data				✓			
SDQ (teacher rated)				\checkmark	~	✓	✓
BRIEF-2 (teacher rated)				✓	~	✓	✓
TEACHER SELF-REPORT			·				
Sociodemographic Information		✓					

MYRIAD	Trial	Protocol
--------	-------	----------

MBI		1			√		√	✓	✓
TSES		✓			✓		√	✓	✓
PSS		✓			✓		√	✓	✓
PHQ9		✓			✓		✓	✓	✓
GAD7		✓			√		✓	√	✓
FFMQ-SF		✓			✓		✓	✓	✓
MTS		✓			√		✓	✓	✓
Mindfulness practice*					√		✓	√	✓
those allocated to MT arm									
Feedback on programme*					✓		✓		
those allocated to MT arm									
TEACHER ASSESSMENT O	F SCHOOL					11			
SCCS		✓			✓		✓	✓	✓
HEADTEACHER SELF-REP	ORT		I	1		11			
Descriptives		√							
Preference (MT or TAU)*		√							
SCHOOL LEVEL MEASURE	S			1		<u> </u>			
PSHE (Personal, Social and		✓					√	✓	✓
Health Education)									
School mindfulness							✓	√	✓
implementation*									

MYRIAD Trial Protocol

Page 40

Version 2.0

27th July 2020

those allocated to MT arm					
RIAD Trial Protocol		Page 41			



9 References

1. Collins PY, Patel V, Joestl SS, et al. Grand challenges in global mental health. *Nature* 2011; **475**(7354): 27-30.

2. Centre for Mental Health. The Economic and Social Costs of Mental Health Problems. London, UK: Centre for Mental Health, 2010.

3. Paus T, Keshavan M, Giedd JN. Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence? *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2008; **9**(12): 947-57.

4. Blakemore SJ. The social brain in adolescence. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2008; **9**(4): 267-77.

5. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions' of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 2005; **62**(6): 593-602.

6. World Health Organization. Health statistics and information systems: Disease burden. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.

7. Williams JMG, Barnhofer T, Crane C, et al. Pre-adult onset and patterns of suicidality in patients with a history of recurrent depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2012; **138**(1-2): 173-9.

8. Goodyer IM, Herbert J, Secher SM, Pearson J. Short-term outcome of major depression .1. Comorbidity and severity at presentation as predictors of persistent disorder. *J Am Acad Child Psy* 1997; **36**(2): 179-87.

9. Goodyer IM, Herbert J, Tamplin A, Secher SM, Pearson J. Short-term outcome of major depression .2. Life events, family dysfunction, and friendship difficulties as predictors of persistent disorder. *J Am Acad Child Psy* 1997; **36**(4): 474-80.

10. Richardson LP, McCauley E, McCarty CA, et al. Predictors of Persistence After a Positive Depression Screen Among Adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2012; **130**(6): E1541-E8.

11. Kessler RC, Avenevoli S, Merikangas KR. Mood disorders in children and adolescents: An epidemiologic perspective. *Biological Psychiatry* 2001; **49**(12): 1002-14.

12. Ford T, Goodman R, Meltzer H. The British child and adolescent mental health survey 1999: the prevalence of DSM-IV disorders. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 2003; **42**(10): 1203-11.

13. Goodman A, Goodman R. Population mean scores predict child mental disorder rates: validating SDQ prevalence estimators in Britain. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2011; **52**(1): 100-8.

14. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, et al. Adolescent Health 1 Adolescence: a foundation for future health. *Lancet* 2012; **379**(9826): 1630-40.

15. Huppert FA, So TC. Flourishing across Europe: application of a new conceptual framework for defining well-being. *Soc Indic Res* 2011.

16. Greenberg MT. School-based prevention: Current status and future challenges. *Effective education* 2010; **2**: 25.

17. Department of Education. Personal, social, health and economic (PSHE) education: A mapping study of the prevalent models of delivery and their effectiveness. London, 2010.

18. Vostanis P, Humphrey N, Fitzgerald N, Deighton J, Wolpert M. How do schools promote emotional well-being among their pupils? Findings from a national scoping survey of mental health provision in English schools. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health* 2013; **18**(3): 151-7.

19. Weare K, Nind M. Mental health promotion and problem prevention in schools: what does the evidence say? *Health Promot Int* 2011; **26**: I29-I69.

20. Merry SM. Preventing depression in adolescents. *British Medical Journal* 2012; **345**.

21. Durlak JA, DuPre EP. Implementation matters: A review of research on the influence of implementation on program outcomes and the factors affecting implementation. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 2008; **41**(3-4): 327-50.

22. Stallard P, Phillips R, Montgomery AA, et al. A cluster randomised controlled trial to determine the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of classroom-based cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT) in reducing symptoms of depression in high-risk adolescents. *Health Technol Assess* 2013; **17**(47): vii-xvii, 1-109.

23. Spence SH, Shortt AL. Research review: Can we justify the widespread dissemination of universal, school-based interventions for the prevention of depression among children and adolescents? *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2007; **48**(6): 526-42.

24. Challen AR, Machin SJ, Gillham JE. The UK Resilience Programme: A School-Based Universal Nonrandomized Pragmatic Controlled Trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 2014; **82**(1): 75-89.

25. Dalgleish T, Williams JM, Golden AM, et al. Reduced specificity of autobiographical memory and depression: the role of executive control. *Journal of Experimental Psychology-General* 2007; **136**(1): 23-42.

26. Schweizer S, Grahn J, Hampshire A, Mobbs D, Dalgleish T. Training the Emotional Brain: Improving Affective Control through Emotional Working Memory Training. *Journal of Neuroscience* 2013; **33**(12): 5301-+.

27. Schweizer S, Hampshire A, Dalgleish T. Extending Brain-Training to the Affective Domain: Increasing Cognitive and Affective Executive Control through Emotional Working Memory Training. *Plos One* 2011; **6**(9).

28. Teper R, Segal ZV, Inzlicht M. Inside the Mindful Mind: How Mindfulness Enhances Emotion Regulation Through Improvements in Executive Control. *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 2013; **22**(6): 449-54.

29. Zelazo PD, Lyons KE. The potential benefits of mindfulness training in early childhood: A developmental social cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Child Development Perspectives* 2012; **6**(2): 154-60.

30. Dalgleish T. Cognitive approaches to posttraumatic stress disorder: The evolution of multirepresentational theorizing. *Psychological Bulletin* 2004; **130**(2): 228-60.

31. Dalgleish T, Hauer B, Kuyken W. The mental regulation of autobiographical recollection in the aftermath of trauma. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci* 2008; **17**(4): 259-63.

32. Kuyken W, Brewin CR. The relation of early abuse to cognition and coping in depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 1999; **23**(6): 665-77.

33. Meiser-Stedman R, Dalgleish T, Yule W, Smith P. Intrusive memories and depression following recent non-traumatic negative life events in adolescents. *J Affect Disorders* 2012; **137**(1-3): 70-8.

34. Newby JM, Moulds ML. Characteristics of intrusive memories in a community sample of depressed, recovered depressed and never-depressed individuals. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2011; **49**(4): 234-43.

35. Williams JMG, Barnhofer T, Crane C, et al. Autobiographical memory specificity and emotional disorder. *Psychological Bulletin* 2007; **133**(1): 122-48.

36. Kuyken W, Watkins E, Holden E, Cook W. Rumination in adolescents at risk for depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 2006; **96**(1-2): 39-47.

37. Moffitt TE, Arseneault L, Belsky D, et al. A gradient of childhood self-control predicts health, wealth, and public safety. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2011; **108**(7): 2693-8.

38. Carver CS, Johnson SL, Joormann J. Serotonergic Function, Two-Mode Models of Self-Regulation, and Vulnerability to Depression: What Depression Has in Common With Impulsive Aggression. *Psychological Bulletin* 2008; **134**(6): 912-43.

39. Killingsworth MA, Gilbert DT. A wandering mind is an unhappy mind. *Science* 2010; **330**(6006): 932.

40. Smallwood J, Schooler JW. The restless mind. *Psychological Bulletin* 2006; **132**(6): 946-58.

41. Rose G. Strategy of preventive medicine. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.

42. Huppert FA. A new approach to reducing disorder and improving well-being. *Perspect Psychol Sci* 2009; **4**(1): 108-11.

43. Brown KW, Goodman RJ, Inzlicht M. Dispositional mindfulness and the attenuation of neural responses to emotional stimuli. *Soc Cogn Affect Neur* 2013; **8**(1): 93-9.

44. Jha AP, Krompinger J, Baime MJ. Mindfulness training modifies subsystems of attention. *Cogn Affect Behav Ne* 2007; **7**(2): 109-19.

45. Tang YY, Ma YH, Wang J, et al. Short-term meditation training improves attention and self-regulation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2007; **104**(43): 17152-6.

46. SedImeier P, Eberth J, Schwarz M, et al. The psychological effects of meditation: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin* 2012; **138**(6): 1139-71.

47. Heeren A, Van Broeck N, Philippot P. The effects of mindfulness on executive processes and autobiographical memory specificity. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2009; **47**(5): 403-9.

48. Greenberg J, Reiner K, Meiran N. "Off with the old": mindfulness practice improves backward inhibition. *Frontiers in psychology* 2012; **3**: 618.

49. Arch JJ, Craske MG. Mechanisms of mindfulness: Emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. *Behaviour Research and Therapy* 2006; **44**(12): 1849-58.

50. Frewen PA, Evans EM, Maraj N, Dozois DJA, Partridge K. Letting go: mindfulness and negative automatic thinking. *Cognitive Ther Res* 2008; **32**(6): 758-74.

51. Witkiewitz K, Bowen S. Depression, Craving, and Substance Use Following a Randomized Trial of Mindfulness-Based Relapse Prevention. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 2010; **78**(3): 362-74.

52. Segal ZV, Williams JMG, Teasdale JD. Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for depression. Second edition ed. New York: Guilford Press; 2013.

53. Piet J, Hougaard E. The effect of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for prevention of relapse in recurrent major depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review* 2011; **31**(6): 1032-40.

54. Williams JMG, Kuyken W. Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy: a promising new approach to preventing depressive relapse. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2012; **200**(5): 359-60.

55. Kuyken W, Crane R, Dalgleish T. Does mindfulness based cognitive therapy prevent relapse of depression? *BMJ* 2012; **345**: e7194.

56. Williams JMG, Crane C, Barnhofer T, et al. Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy for preventing relapse in recurrent depression: a randomized dismantling trial. *J Consult Clin Psychol* 2014; **82**(2): 275-86.

57. Mrazek MD, Franklin MS, Phillips DT, Baird B, Schooler JW. Mindfulness training improves working memory capacity and GRE performance while reducing mind wandering. *Psychol Sci* 2013; **24**(5): 776-81.

58. Meiklejohn J, Phillips C, Freedman ML, et al. Integrating mindfulness training into K-12 education: Fostering the resilience of teachers and students. *Mindfulness* 2012.

59. Zoogman S, Golberg SB, Hoyt WT, Miller L. Mindfulness interventions with youth: A meta-analysis. *Mindfulness* 2014.

60. Greenberg MT, Harris AR. Nurturing Mindfulness in Children and Youth: Current State of Research. *Child Development Perspectives* 2012; **6**(2): 161-6.

61. Weare K. Child and adolescent mental health in schools. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health* 2013; **18**(3): 129-30.

62. Zenner C, Herrnleben-Kurz S, Walach H. Mindfulness-based interventions in schools-a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Frontiers in psychology* 2014; **5**.

63. Burnett R, Cullen C, O'Neill C. .b mindfulness curriculum In: Project MiS, editor. Mindfulness in Schools Project, Bank House, Bank Street, Tonbridge, Kent TN9 1BL; 1015.

64. Radloff LS. The Use of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale in Adolescents and Young-Adults. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 1991; **20**(2): 149-66.

65. Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental wellbeing scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. *Health Qual Life Out* 2007; **5**.

66. Kuyken W, Weare K, Ukoumunne OC, et al. Effectiveness of the Mindfulness in Schools Programme: non-randomised controlled feasibility study. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2013; **203**(2): 126-31.

67. Domitrovich CE, Greenberg MT. The study of implementation: Current findings from effective programs that prevent mental disorders in school-aged children. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation* 2000; **11**(2): 193-221.

68. Sibinga EMS, Kerrigan D, Stewart M, Johnson K, Magyari T, Ellen JM. Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction for Urban Youth. *J Altern Complem Med* 2011; **17**(3): 213-8.

69. Bogels S, Hoogstad B, van Dun L, de Schutter S, Restifo K. Mindfulness training for adolescents with externalizing disorders and their parents. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy* 2008; **36**(2): 193-209.

70. Flook L, Goldberg SB, Pinger L, Bonus K, Davidson RJ. Mindfulness for teachers: A pilot study to assess effects on stress, burnout, and teaching efficacy (vol 7, pg 182, 2013). *Mind Brain Educ* 2013; **7**(4): 256-.

71. Beshai S, McAlpine L, Weare K, Kuyken W. A non-randomised feasibility trial assessing the efficacy of a mindfulness-based intervention for teachers to reduce stress and improve well-being. *Mindfulness* 2015.

72. Raes F, Griffith JW, Van der Gucht K, Williams JMG. School-based prevention and reduction of depression in adolescents: A cluster randomized controlled trial of a mindfulness group program. *Mindfulness* 2013; **5**(5): 477-86.

73. Ford T, Edwards V, Sharkey S, et al. Supporting teachers and children in schools: the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of the Incredible Years teacher classroom management programme in primary school children: a cluster randomised controlled trial, with parallel economic and process evaluations. *Bmc Public Health* 2012; **12**: 719.

74. Bierman KL, Nix RL, Greenberg MT, Blair C, Domitrovich CE. Executive functions and school readiness intervention: Impact, moderation, and mediation in the Head Start REDI program. *Development and Psychopathology* 2008; **20**(3): 821-43.

75. Domitrovich CE, Bradshaw CP, Greenberg MT, Embry D, Poduska JM, Ialongo NS. Integrated Models of School-Based Prevention: Logic and Theory. *Psychol Schools* 2010; **47**(1): 71-88.

76. Greenberg MT, Weissberg RP, O'Brien MU, et al. Enhancing school-based prevention and youth development through coordinated social, emotional, and academic learning. *American Psychologist* 2003; **58**(6-7): 466-74.

77. Mendelson T, Greenberg MT, Dariotis JK, Gould LF, Rhoades BL, Leaf PJ. Feasibility and Preliminary Outcomes of a School-Based Mindfulness Intervention for Urban Youth. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 2010; **38**(7): 985-94.

78. Chan A-W, Tetzlaff JM, Gotzsche PC, et al. SPIRIT 2013 explanation and elaboration: guidance for protocols of clinical trials. *Bmj-Brit Med J* 2013; **346**.

79. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D, Grp C. CONSORT 2010 Statement: Updated Guidelines for Reporting Parallel Group Randomised Trials. *Plos Med* 2010; **7**(3).

80. Campbell MK, Elbourne DR, Altman DG. CONSORT statement: extension to cluster randomised trials. *BMJ* 2004; **328**(7441): 702-8.

81. Weijer C, Grimshaw JM, Eccles MP, et al. The Ottawa Statement on the Ethical Design and Conduct of Cluster Randomized Trials. *Plos Medicine* 2012; **9**(11): e1001346.

82. Eldridge S, Kerry S, Torgerson DJ. Bias in identifying and recruiting participants in cluster randomised trials: what can be done? *British Medical Journal* 2009; **339**.

83. Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *Bmj-Brit Med J* 2014; **348**.

84. Kuyken W, Weare K, Ukoumunne OC, et al. Effectiveness of the Mindfulness in Schools Programme: non-randomised controlled feasibility study. *The British journal of psychiatry : the journal of mental science* 2013; **203**: 126-31.

85. Huppert FA, Johnson DM. A controlled trial of mindfulness training in schools: The importance of practice for an impact on well-being. *J Posit Psychol* 2010; **5**(4): 264-74.

86. Durlak JA, Weissberg RP, Dymnicki AB, Taylor RD, Schellinger KB. The Impact of Enhancing Students' Social and Emotional Learning: A Meta-Analysis of School-Based Universal Interventions. *Child Development* 2011; **82**(1): 405-32.

87. Gould LF, Mendelson T, Dariotis JK, et al. Assessing fidelity of core components in a mindfulness and yoga intervention for urban youth: applying the CORE Process. *New directions for youth development* 2014; **2014**(142): 59-81.

88. Crane RS, Eames C, Kuyken W, et al. Development and validation of the Mindfulness-Based Interventions - Teaching Assessment Criteria (MBI:TAC). *Assessment* 2013; **20**(6): 681-8.

89. Crane RS, Kuyken W, Williams JMG, Hastings RP, Cooper L, Fennell M. Competence in teaching mindfulness-based courses: Concepts, development and assessment. *Mindfulness* 2012; **3**: 8.

90. PSHE Association. PHSE education self-assessment tool. 2015. https://<u>http://www.pshe-</u>

association.org.uk/resources_search_details.aspx?ResourceId=183&Keyword=PSHE

education self-assessment

<u>schools&SubjectID=0&LevelID=0&ResourceTypeID=0&SuggestedUseID=0</u> (accessed 12th October 2015 2015).

framework

for

91. OFSTED. Not Yet Good Enough: personal, social, health and economic education in schools. Manchester: The Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skills (Ofsted) 2013.

92. Briere FN, Pascal S, Dupere V, Janosz M. School environment and adolescent depressive symptoms: A multi-level longitudinal study. *Pediatrics* 2013.

93. Roeger L, Allison S, Martin G, V D. Adolescent depressive symptomatology: improve schools or help students? . *Aust J Psychol* 2001; **53**: 5.

94. Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 2001; **40**(11): 1337-45.

95. Zhang J, Quan H, Ng J, Stepanavage ME. Some statistical methods for multiple endpoints in clinical trials. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1997; **18**(3): 204-21.

96. Hoyt LT, Chase-Lansdale PL, McDade TW, Adam EK. Positive Youth, Healthy Adults: Does Positive Well-being in Adolescence Predict Better Perceived Health and Fewer Risky Health Behaviors in Young Adulthood? *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2012; **50**(1): 66-73.

97. Richards M, Huppert FA. Do positive children become positive adults? Evidence from a longitudinal birth cohort study. *J Posit Psychol* 2011; **6**(1): 75-87.

98. Rutter M, Kim-Cohen J, Maughan B. Continuities and discontinuities in psychopathology between childhood and adult life. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry* 2006; **47**(3-4): 276-95.

99. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. *BMJ* 2008; **337**: a1655.

100. Pocock SJ. Clinical trials with multiple outcomes: A statistical perspective on their design, analysis, and interpretation. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1997; **18**(6): 530-45.

101. Sozu T, Sugimoto T, Hamasaki T. Sample size determination in clinical trials with multiple co-primary endpoints including mixed continuous and binary variables. *Biometrical J* 2012; **54**(5): 716-29.

102. Gioia GA, Isquith PK, Guy SC, Kenworthy L, Baron IS. Test review: Behavior rating inventory of executive function. *Child Neuropsychol* 2000; **6**(3): 235-8.

103. Steinberg L, Monahan KC. Age differences in resistance to peer influence. *Developmental Psychology* 2007; **43**(6): 1531-43.

104. Weiss DC, Chorpita BF. Revised children's anxiety and depression scale: User's guide., 2011.

105. Lounsbury JW, Tatum H, Gibson LW, et al. The development of a Big Five Adolescent Personality Inventory. *Journal of Psychoeducational Assessment* 2003; **21**(2): 111-33.

106. Roberts BW, Walton KE, Viechtbauer W. Patterns of mean-level change in personality traits across the life course: A meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Bulletin* 2006; **132**(1): 1-25.

107. de Bruin EI, Zijlstra BJH, Bögels SM. The Meaning of Mindfulness in Children and Adolescents: Further Validation of the Child and Adolescent Mindfulness Measure

(CAMM) in Two Independent Samples from The Netherlands. *Mindfulness* 2013; **5**(4): 422-30.

108. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Guide to the Methods of Technology Appraisal, 2013.

109. Herdman M, Gudex C, Lloyd A, et al. Development and preliminary testing of the new five-level version of EQ-5D (EQ-5D-5L). *Qual Life Res* 2011; **20**(10): 1727-36.

110. Maslach C, Jackson SE, Leiter MP. Maslach burnout inventory manual, third edition. In: Press CP, editor. Palo Alto, California, USA; 1996.

111. Tschannen-Moran M, Woolfolk HA. Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teach Teach Educ* 2001; **17**(7): 783-805.

112. Frank JL, Jennings PA, Greenberg MT: Validation of the Mindfulness in Teaching Scale. *Mindfulness* 2016, **7**:155-163.

113. Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior* 1983; **24**(4): 385-96.

114. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD - The PHQ primary care study. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 1999; **282**(18): 1737-44.

115. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Lowe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder - The GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med* 2006; **166**(10): 1092-7.

116. Byford S, Barrett B, Roberts C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and routine specialist care with and without cognitive-behavioural therapy in adolescents with major depression. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2007; **191**: 521-7.

117. Curtis L, Netten A. Unit costs of health and social care. Canterbury: Personal Social Services Research Unit; 2006.

118. Byford S. The validity and responsiveness of the EQ-5D measure of healthrelated quality of life in an adolescent population with persistent major depression. *Journal of Mental Health* 2013; **22**(2): 101-10.

119. Cuijpers P. Examining the effects of prevention programs on the incidence of new cases of mental disorders: The lack of statistical power. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 2003; **160**(8): 1385-91.

120. Dunn G, Bentall R. Modelling treatment-effect heterogeneity in randomized controlled trials of complex interventions (psychological treatments). *Statistics in Medicine* 2007; **26**(26): 4719-45.

121. Wallace ML, Frank E, Kraemer HC. A Novel Approach for Developing and Interpreting Treatment Moderator Profiles in Randomized Clinical Trials. *JAMA psychiatry* 2013; **70**(11): 1241-7.

122. Brookes ST, Whitely E, Egger M, Smith GD, Mulheran PA, Peters TJ. Subgroup analyses in randomized trials: risks of subgroup-specific analyses; power and sample size for the interaction test. *J Clin Epidemiol* 2004; **57**(3): 229-36.

123. Kraemer HC, Wilson GT, Fairburn CG, Agras WS. Mediators and moderators of treatment effects in randomized clinical trials. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 2002; **59**: 877-83.

124. Coffman D. Causal Mediation Analysis for Cluster-Randomized Trials: Effects of the Drug Resistance Strategies Intervention on Substance Use. Bennett Pierce Prevention Research Centre for the promotion of human development: Joint seminar with the methodology center; 2014.

125. Barber JA, Thompson SG. Analysis of cost data in randomized trials: an application of the non-parametric bootstrap. *Statistics in Medicine* 2000; **19**(23): 3219-36.

126. Fenwick E, Byford S. A guide to cost-effectiveness acceptability curves. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 2005; **187**: 106-8.

127. Scott S, Knapp M, Henderson J, Maughan B. Financial cost of social exclusion: follow up study of antisocial children into adulthood. *British Medical Journal* 2001; **323**(7306): 191-4.

128. Lee FS, Heimer H, Giedd JN, et al. Adolescent mental health-Opportunity and obligation. *Science* 2014; **346**(6209): 547-9.

129. Philips Z, Ginnelly L, Sculpher M, et al. Review of guidelines for good practice in decision-analytic modelling in health technology assessment. *Health Technology Assessment* 2004; **8**(36): 1-+.

130. Raes F, Griffith JW, Van der Gucht K, Williams JMG. School-based prevention and reduction of depression in adolescents: A cluster randomized controlled trial of a mindfulness group program. *Mindfulness* 2013.

131. King M, Nazareth I, Lampe F, et al. Conceptual framework and systematic review of the effects of participants' and professionals' preferences in randomised controlled trials. *Health Technology Assessment* 2005; **9**(35): 1-+.

132. Wille, N., Badia, X., Bonsel, G., Burström, K., Cavrini, G., Devlin, N., Egmar, A.C., Greiner, W., Gusi, N., Herdman, M. and Jelsma, J., 2010. Development of the EQ-5D-Y: a child-friendly version of the EQ-5D. *Quality of Life Research*, **19**(6), pp.875-886.

133. Juneau A.K. (2015). School climate and connectedness survey [measurement instrument]. Association of Alaska School Boards.

134. Ratcliffe J, Stevens K, Flynn T, Brazier J, Sawyer M. An assessment of the construct validity of the CHU9D in the Australian adolescent general population. *Quality of Life Research*. 2012;21(4):717-725.

135. Ratcliffe J, Flynn T, Terlich F, Stevens K, Brazier J, Sawyer M. Developing Adolescent-Specific Health State Values for Economic Evaluation An Application of Profile Case Best-Worst Scaling to the Child Health Utility 9D. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2012;30(8):713-727.